Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-24-2008

Bushi v. Sage Health Care, PLLC Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 34827

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case

This is an appeal from the District Court's grant of summary judgment and an award of attorney fees in favor the Defendant/Appellant members of Sage Health Care PLLC. This case raises issues of whether three members of a four-member LLC breach fiduciary duties and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing when the three members act to deprive the fourth member of his profits due from, and ultimately his ownership in, the LLC.

B. Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

1. Background

On May 19, 1994, Plaintiff-Appellant, Stephen T. Bushi ("Dr. Bushi"), along with Cantril T. Nielsen and Defendants-Appellees, Charles C. Novak and David A Kent, formed The Sage Group, LLC. See Clerk's Record on Appeal ("Record"), Exh. 11, ¶¶ 2-3. The name of the LLC was subsequently changed to Sage Health Care, PLLC (hereinafter "Sage"). See Record, p. 193. Each of the original members, all of whom are licensed psychiatrists, contributed \$2,000, and each held a 25% interest in the LLC. Id. Dr. Nielsen subsequently withdrew from Sage. See Record, p. 12. In 2003, Defendant Appellee, Dr. Roberto Negron, acquired a 25% ownership interest in Sage. Id.

Sage is a professional services provider, consisting primarily of psychiatric services.

However, much of its income is derived from other service providers, including therapists, nurse practitioners and physicians assistants, who add a great deal of benefit to the practice of psychiatry at Sage. See Record, Exh. 11, ¶ 16. A large part of Sage's income comes directly

from contracts entered into exclusively between Sage and other health care entities, such as St. Alphonsus Regional Health Center, Human Supports, Intermountain Hospital, Sun Health and the Idaho Department of Health and Welfare. *Id.* These contracts are the backbone of Sage's profits, and they subsidize the private practices of each of the doctors with an office in Sage. *Id.* at ¶ 23.

For the first several years of its operation, Sage did not generate much profit. *Id.* at ¶ 21. However, through the combined efforts of the members, Sage eventually became very profitable. In 2003, for the purpose of obtaining loans, each of the Sage members <u>valued their 25%</u> ownership interest of Sage at \$250,000. *Id.* at ¶ 17.

Having helped build Sage into a profitable business, Dr. Bushi planned on remaining an equity owner and having the value of his membership interest substantially increase over the years such that it would provide a sizeable income stream for his retirement. See Id. at ¶ 8. The terms of Sage's Operating Agreement justified Bushi's expectation that he would remain an equity owner of Sage. In this regard, the Sage Operating Agreement provided for dissociation of a member only under limited and specified circumstances:

DISSOCIATION OF A MEMBER

- 1. Mandatory Dissociation A person shall cease to be a member upon the happening of any of the following events:
- 1.1 the Withdrawal of a Member with the consent of the majority of the remaining members prior to the date set forth in Section 5 of Article II;
- 1.2 in the case of a member who is a natural person, the death of the member of the entry of an order by a court of competent jurisdiction adjudicating the Member incompetent to manage the member's person [sic] estate;

- 1.3 in the case of a Member who is acting as a Member by virtue of being a trustee in a trust, the termination of the trust (but not merely the substitution of a new trustee);
- 1.4 in the case of a Member that is a separate Organization other than a corporation, the dissolution and commencement of winding up of the separate Organization;
- 1.5 in the case of a member that is a corporation, the filing of a certificate of dissolution, or its equivalent, for the corporation or the revocation of its charter; or [sic]
- 2. Dissociation by Vote A person shall cease to be a member upon a majority vote of other Members, upon the happening of any of the following events:
 - 2.1 the bankruptcy of a Member;
- 2.2 the attachment, levy or execution upon a Member's Membership Interest;
 - 2.3 the Member's loss of professional license;
- 2.4 a finding by a Member's professional society that the Member is guilty of an ethical violation;
- 2.5 the Member is unable to obtain professional liability insurance coverage;
 - 2.6 the member is convicted of a felony.

See Record, pp. 38-62.

In about 2002, Dr. Bushi started to date a nurse practitioner who was and still is an employee of Sage. See Record, Exh. 11, ¶ 25. Dr. Bushi informed the other members of the LLC about the relationship. Id. No term in the Operating Agreement prohibited Dr. Bushi from maintaining his relationship with the nurse practitioner. However, because of the other members' concerns about their potential liability for a sexual harassment claim, arrangements were made that Dr. Bushi would have no role in supervising the nurse practitioner. Id.

At a member's meeting held on October 27, 2005, the other Sage members informed Dr. Bushi that they wanted him out as a member of Sage because he was dating the nurse practitioner. *Id.* at ¶ 27. Of course, as the Defendant members knew, the Operating Agreement did not prohibit the relationship and did not provide for dissociation of a member because of such a relationship.

After being informed that the other members wanted him out of Sage, Dr. Bushi became concerned about his future with Sage. Dr. Bushi spoke with another psychiatry group in November 2005, and decided to cover himself by also joining their practice group. *Id.* at ¶ 28. The Operating Agreement, Article VI, paragraph 8 (Conflicts of Interest) specifically allows a member to enter into business transactions that may be considered competitive with Sage, and further provides that each member waives and releases any and all claims and causes of action against the other member which might result from such transactions. *See* Record, p. 49. Thus, Dr. Bushi was entirely within his rights to join this other psychiatry group.

Dr. Novak, Dr. Kent and Dr. Negron (the "Appellee Members") thought otherwise, and at an owners' meeting held on December 8, 2005, they voted that Plaintiff would not be entitled to any profit sharing starting in the year 2006. *See* Record, Exh. 11, ¶ 29. The stated reason for this decision was "due to his connection with our competitor." *Id.* They also stopped scheduling Plaintiff in various Sage contracts that he had been participating in, which included the Consult Contract at St. Als, the Addiction Recovery Center Contract at St. Als and the Ada County Involuntary Holds Contract. *Id.* at ¶ 29.

At this same meeting, Dr. Novak, Dr. Kent and Dr. Negron also expressed that they wanted to buy out Plaintiff's membership interest, and Plaintiff was handed a figure prepared by

Craig Rasmussen, CPA, who acts as the Appellee Members' personal accountant as well as Sage's accountant. Plaintiff was told at the meeting that he had to make a decision to their offer by January 2006, and Plaintiff responded that he would not comment on any amount until he had spoken with his attorney. *Id.* at ¶ 30.

On January 17, 2006, an owners' meeting was convened and Dr. Bushi, Dr. Negron, Dr. Novak, Dr. Kent and Jennifer Teinert, the office manager, were present. They presented Plaintiff for the first time with a non-compete agreement providing that he would not go into competition in any practice against them. In return, Dr. Bushi would be paid an amount equal to \$15,000 for his withdrawal and dissociation from Sage, payable over three years, and Plaintiff would be required to withdraw and forfeit any and all rights of ownership which he currently had in Sage. *Id.* at ¶ 31.

Following Dr. Bushi's attendance at the meeting, Dr. Bushi's counsel wrote the Appellee Members a letter, rejecting the Appellee Members' bad faith demand. *Id.* at ¶ 33. Dr. Bushi's counsel explained that Dr. Bushi was entitled to an apportionment of the profit distributions equal to his membership interest as provided in the Operating Agreement. Dr. Bushi's counsel further expressed that, until a mutually satisfactory agreement had been reached on the value of Dr. Bushi's membership interest, he would remain a member of Sage and retain all of his rights and interest associated with being a member. *Id.* at ¶ 34.

On January 24, 2006, Dr. Bushi received a notice for a January 30, 2006 meeting of members of Sage Health Care. *Id.* at ¶ 35. When Dr. Bushi informed Dr. Novak that he could not make the announced meeting because he would be out of town, Dr. Novak stated that it did

not matter whether he attended the meeting because Dr. Bushi was out and his vote did not matter. *Id.* at ¶ 36.

The Appellee Members proceeded to hold the special meeting of members, and Dr. Bushi's counsel appeared by proxy in his absence. The Appellee Members voted to amend Article XI of the Operating Agreement to provide for the dissociation of a member "[b]y an affirmative vote of all but one of the members." *Id.* at ¶ 37. In other words, the three members of the four-member LLC amended the Operating Agreement to allow themselves to dissociate the fourth member for any or no reason whatsoever.

The effect of this amendment was that Dr. Novak, Dr. Kent and Dr. Negron dissociated Dr. Bushi, thus depriving him of his interest in the company that he had helped build into a profitable entity. The dissociation of Dr. Bushi, of course, served the Appellee Members' self interests in that it served to immediately increase each Appellee Member's interest in Sage from 25% to a full 33%, thus padding their own pocket books now and into the future with the profits of Sage. While the Appellee Members personally benefited from their actions, Dr. Bushi was left with nothing, other than the \$11,240 he was offered for the "book value" of his membership interest. See Record, Exh. 4.

2. Separate Litigation By Sage Against Dr. Bushi

On June 9, 2006, Sage filed a lawsuit against Dr. Bushi in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, Ada County Case No. 0610585 (hereinafter, the "Separate Litigation"). That Separate Litigation arose out of Sage's misguided claim that Dr. Bushi had used a business line of credit for his own purposes. Dr. Bushi had obtained a line of credit from Wells Fargo in 2005. The name on the line of credit account was listed as "Sage Health Care, PLCC Stephen Bushi."

Dr. Bushi at all times believed that this line of credit was his personal line of credit, not a business line of credit for Sage. *See* Record, Exh. 11, ¶ 32. After learning that Dr. Bushi had obtained funds on the line of credit, Sage requested that he pay off the line of credit and Sage then filed suit against Dr. Bushi. Dr. Bushi repaid the line of credit and Sage subsequently dismissed its lawsuit. Dr. Bushi's use of the line of credit was not an act of conversion or otherwise wrongful. Instead, it was simply a matter of Dr. Bushi's misunderstanding of the name under which the line of credit had been opened. *Id.* More importantly, the use of the line of credit was never asserted by the other members as the reasons for Dr. Bushi's dissociation. *Id.* As will be discussed below, however, the Appellee Members have now opportunistically claimed that it was the reason for the dissociation. That claim is not only irrelevant, but, as discussed in more detail below, it finds no factual support in the record, especially in the context of a motion for summary judgment in which all facts and inferences must be drawn in favor of the non-moving party.

3. Procedural Posture

On October 19, 2006, Dr. Bushi filed a complaint against Sage asserting claims for (1) breach of fiduciary duty; (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) unjust enrichment; (4) breach of operating agreement; (5) declaratory relief; and (6) equitable accounting. See Record, pp. 8-22. Appellees filed a counterclaim, asserting two claims. See Record, pp. 23-37. First, Appellees brought a breach of contract claim, even though it was based on the same facts as the Separate Litigation that had already been dismissed. More specifically, the breach of contract counterclaim alleged that Bushi breached the Operating Agreement by using what Dr. Bushi mistakenly believed to be his own personal line of credit. Second,

Appellees sought declaratory relief related to the validity of their actions in amending the Operating Agreement.

Dr. Bushi brought a motion to dismiss Appellees' counterclaim for breach of contract, and the District Court granted that motion on grounds that the cause of action was moot.

Between the time that Dr. Bushi filed his motion to dismiss and when the District Court granted that motion, Appellees filed a motion for summary judgment. That motion sought summary judgment both on Dr. Bushi's complaint and Appellees' counterclaims. The District Court granted Appellees' motion for summary judgment. *See* Record, pp. 96-116.

Appellees then filed a Memorandum of Costs and Attorney Fees, asking the District Court to award costs and fees "under Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 54(d)(1) and 54(e)(1) and Idaho Code § 12-121." See Record, Exh. 14 (emphasis added). At no point in Appellees' Memorandum of Costs and Attorney Fees, the affidavits in support thereof, or Appellees' reply briefing, did Appellees seek fees under the commercial transaction provision of Idaho Code § 12-120(3). See Record, Exhs. 14-17. The District Court declined to award attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-121, but awarded fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3), even though Appellees' moving papers never made a claim for fees under that section of the Idaho Code. See Record, pp. 164-177. Moreover, the District Court granted fees in the amount of \$ 73,233.19, which is an excessive and unreasonable amount in this case. Id.

Dr. Bushi appeals both the entry of summary judgment in favor of Appellees and the award of attorney fees in favor of Appellees.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- (1) Whether the District Court erred in its Order Granting Sage Health Care's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- (2) Whether the District Court erred in its Order Granting Sage Health Care's Motion for Attorney Fees, dated October 25, 2007, by awarding Defendant's attorney fees in the amount of \$73,233.19, costs as a matter of right in the amount of \$72.00, and discretionary costs in the amount of \$5,665.00.

III.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

This Court reviews *de novo* a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment.

Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Idaho Farm Bureau Ins. Co., 141 Idaho 660, 662, 115 P.3d 751, 753 (2005). The Court should affirm the summary judgment order only "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Id. (citing I.R.C.P. 56(c)). "When making its determination, the Court construes all facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Id.

This Court's review of whether the District Court properly awarded attorney fees is also de novo. See Bingham v. Montane Resource Associates, 133 Idaho 420, 423, 987 P.2d 1035, 1038 (1999) ("When a dispute centers around whether the district judge properly awarded attorney fees under a statute in the first instance, the Court exercises free review."). Only if the

Court agrees that attorney fees were properly awarded does the Court review the reasonableness of the award of attorney fees award. That review is on an abuse of discretion standard. *See Lettunich v. Lettunich*, 185 P.3d 258, 262, Idaho (2008).

B. The District Court Relied On Allegations Not In The Record And Improperly Resolved Factual Issues In Favor Of The Moving Parties

The well-established rule on summary judgment is that all facts must be construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and all reasonable inferences must be drawn in the non-moving party's favor. Cascade Auto Glass, 141 Idaho 660, 662. The District Court, however, did not apply this standard. The Appellee Members have opportunistically attempted to justify the dissociation of Dr. Bushi on grounds that Dr. Bushi used a business line of credit for his own purposes. As an initial matter, the alleged use of the business line of credit was never even asserted by Sage as a basis for his dissociation until asserted in this litigation.

Instead, the Appellee Members' expressly stated reasons for wanting to dissociate Dr. Bushi was that he was dating a nurse practitioner and his decision to associate with a competing group of psychologists. See Record, Exh. 11, ¶ 29.

More importantly, the District Court misapplied the summary judgment rule of construing facts in favor of the non-moving party by ignoring Dr. Bushi's explanation of the allegations. Dr. Bushi's use of the line of credit was not an act of conversion. Instead, it was simply a matter of Dr. Bushi's misunderstanding of the name under which the line of credit had been opened. *Id.* at ¶ 32.

Additionally, while the District Court adopted almost verbatim the Appellee Members' version of the facts, none of the allegations of Dr. Bushi's use of the business line of credit are

even in the record. On summary judgment, the Court is permitted to consider only the "pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any." See I.R.C.P. 56(c). None of the affidavits submitted in support of the motion for summary judgment make any mention of the alleged use of a business line of credit. See Record, Exhs. 2-6. Instead, those allegations are contained only in the first count of Appellees' Counterclaim, which has been dismissed. See Record, pp. 30-32. Thus, those allegations are not in the record and cannot be relied upon for purposes of Appellees' motion for summary judgment.

It is abundantly clear that the District Court's view of this case was tainted by the allegations of conversion. The District Court's order granting summary judgment recited in great detail the allegations against Dr. Bushi (even though these factual issues were not in the record and should have been resolved in favor of Dr. Bushi for purposes of summary judgment). See Record, pp. 101–103 (Order, pp. 6-8). The District Court repeatedly referred back to these allegations as justifying the Appellee Members' actions. For example, on page 14 of the District Court's Order, the District Court asserts that, "[u]nder the original agreement, they could not vote to remove [Dr. Bushi] even though he [used the operating line of credit] without the knowledge of the other Members and in clear violation of the operating Agreement language." See Record, p. 109. The District Court further explained that, under the terms of the Operating Agreement, the Appellee Members were "without remedy" against Dr. Bushi, thus justifying their amendment of the Operating Agreement. Id. at pp. 109-110.

As another example, the District Court explained during the hearing on the Appellees' motion for attorney fees that the allegations of conversion served as the "context" for the amendment of the Operating Agreement. The District Court insisted on relying on these

allegations, despite objections from Dr. Bushi's counsel that the allegations were both irrelevant and were not supported by any affidavit:

MR. SCHOSSBERGER: Your honor, I start by saying I take exception to this continuing going back to raising this theory of conversion in the original complaint which was in a separate action which was dismissed which then was also dismissed by this Court in the counterclaim.

THE COURT: I know, but that was the basis for this whole litigation. That's what really started it. So I do think it is relevant for the purposes of these arguments and it was certainly something that I took into account in trying to put context around what it was that the members did in deciding to revise the operating agreement. So I'm not going to ignore it, counsel.

September 27, 2007 Transcript, p. 89, LL. 16 – p. 90 L. 2; see also pp. 90, L. 6 – p. 91, L. 25.

Thus, it is clear that the allegations against Dr. Bushi played a very large role in the District Court's decision. The District Court's resolution of the issue in favor of the Appellee Members was erroneous because (1) it violates the rule that facts must be construed in favor of the non-moving party for purposes of summary judgment; and (2) those allegations are not even included in the record. These two mistakes skewed the entire analysis the District Court performed in granting summary judgment.

C. The Appellees Breached Their Fiduciary Duties To Dr. Bushi

The District Court erred in granting summary judgment on Dr. Bushi's claim for breach of fiduciary duties. In granting summary judgment on the breach of fiduciary duty cause of action, the District Court concluded that it was "debatable" whether the Appellee Members even

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