Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-12-2008

Bushi v. Sage Health Care, PLLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34827

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

Next, Bushi makes the outrageous allegation that the litany of his sins in connection with the Company line of credit "are contained <u>only</u> in the first count of Appellee's counterclaim which has been dismissed." (Appellant's Brief, p. 11)

(Emphasis added.) In fact, the Verified Answer and Counterclaim unequivocally states these allegations in the Third Separate Defense (Record p.p. 26 ff), they are reiterated in the Fourth Separate Defense (Record p. 28) and the Fifth Separate Defense (Record p. 29) and in the Second Count of the Counterclaim, paragraph 1 (Record p. 33). The Order of the Court to which Bushi refers provides, in pertinent part, "The first cause of action of the counterclaim is hereby dismissed". (Record p. 91). The Order does <u>not</u> dismiss the Third Separate Defense, Fourth Separate Defense, Fifth Separate Defense and Second Count of the Counterclaim. Here, I.R.C.P. Rule 3.3(a)(1) is implicated. We will expect Bushi's counsel to respond in his reply brief.

Bushi next contends (Appellant's Brief, p.11) that "The District Court's view of the case was <u>tainted</u> by the allegations of conversion." Of course, these weren't allegations, they are facts which are uncontested in the Record:

THIRD SEPARATE DEFENSE Breach Of Contract By Bushi.

- 1. At all times relevant prior to January 30, 2006, Bushi was a member of Defendant Sage, a signatory to the Operating Agreement, (Exhibit A) and was bound by the terms and conditions of the Operating Agreement.
- 2. In July 3, 2003 Sage obtained a business line of credit loan from Wells Fargo Bank (the Bank) under account No. 5474 6488 0066 7547 (the business line of credit). The business line of credit was intended to serve as a back up source of liquidity for Sage if and when needed.
- 3. Since the inception of the business line of credit it has never been used by Sage for Company purposes.
- 4. In October, 2005, a mailing was received by Sage from the Bank which indicated that substantial funds had been borrowed under the business line of credit. Neither Sage's business manager nor any of the members

other than Bushi had any knowledge of the borrowings as aforesaid prior to the receipt of the referenced notice nor had they in any way consented or agreed to said borrowings.

- 5. Following receipt of the mailing aforesaid, Sage contacted the Bank and requested information concerning borrowings under the business line of credit. The information provided by the Bank indicated that the borrowings under the business line of credit had been made by Bushi and that the funds received by the borrowings had been paid over to Bushi on his authorization and request. The Bank pointed out that Bushi was a member of Sage and had been one of the authorized signatories for the business line of credit.
- 6. Information provided by the Bank further indicated that the Bank had been instructed to forward all the business line of credit account statements to the address of 890 Curling, Boise, Idaho which was Bushi's address, not the address of Sage.
- The other members of Sage confronted Bushi with the information received from the bank and demanded an explanation. Bushi acknowledged that he had personally received the funds borrowed under the business line of credit and converted those funds for his own use. The other members of Sage demanded that Bushi immediately repay the funds which he had converted from his line of credit. Then, and on numerous subsequent occasions, Bushi promised to pay all the funds which he had converted from the business line of credit, but through the date of the termination of his membership on January 30,2006, he had failed to make such payment. Bushi failed to repay the funds he had converted as aforesaid until June 2006, after Sage had filed a civil action against him in the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, in and for the County of Ada under Case No. CVOC 0610585. A true copy of the Verified Complaint in that action is appended hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein by reference.
- 5. [sic] In addition to being an unlawful conversion of funds, the actions of Bushi as aforesaid were also a breach of the express provisions of the Operating Agreement (Exhibit A), in particular, Article VI, Section 2.6 which provides as follows:

- "2. Two Thirds Majority the following actions require the consent of two-thirds majority of the members: . . .
- 2.6. The lending of money, investment and reinvestment of the Company's funds, and receipt and holding of property of security for repayment, including, without limitation, the loaning of money to and otherwise helping members, officers, employees and agents."

As noted aforesaid, none of the other members voted in favor of making any "loan" to Bushi or even had knowledge that he was converting the Company's funds to his own use. See, Camp v. Jiminez, 107 Idaho 878 (Ct. App. 1984).

Finally, Bushi complains because his conversion of Company funds was not a stated ground for removal of the Operating Agreement, so it was necessary for the other members to amend the Operating Agreement to allow termination of his membership. In other words, Bushi had breached the Operating Agreement and breached his fiduciary duty to the Company and the other members, but should be allowed to get away with it because there was no specific punishment provided in the Operating Agreement. Of course the Operating Agreement did provide express provisions which allowed the other members to amend it. It is hard to understand how the amendment of the Operating Agreement to add a provision which permitted termination of Bushi's membership violated any legal standard. No real explanation has ever been provided by Bushi.

6. Sage Did Not Breach Its Fiduciary Duties to Bushi

a. Bushi Breached His Duties Under the Operating Agreement and His Fiduciary Duty to the Company

An amendment under the Operating Agreement to allow Bushi's elimination for breaching the Agreement does not constitute a breach of fiduciary duty. The Virginia Supreme Court articulates this legal principle in a recent decision, *Gowin v. Granite*

Depot, LLC., 272 Va., 246, 634 S.E.2d 714 (2006). There the court held that the majority member did not breach his fiduciary duty to the limited liability company by amending the articles of organization to allow elimination of a member for nonpayment of his capital contribution. 634 S.E.2d at 722. In performing this analysis, the Court noted "Whether an act constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty will depend on the circumstances of each case." *Id.* In the Virginia case, the complaining member had an obligation to put the money into the company and he did not. In our case, Bushi had an obligation not to take the money out and he did. Both ways, the Company was short of the money, both ways, amending the Operating Agreement to address the problem was not a breach of fiduciary duty.

Bushi converted \$61,000 in Company funds to his own use and used them to pay personal expenses. In *Purcell v. Southern Hill Investments, LLC*, 847 N.E.2d 1991 (Ind. App., 2006), the Court held that *Purcell* breached his fiduciary duty when he used Company funds to repay a personal loan without the knowledge or consent of the other members. *Id. at p. 999*.

b. The Other Members of Sage Acted in Fulfillment of Their Fiduciary Duties to the Company and One Another When They Removed Bushi As a Member

Fiduciary duties do not run in one direction only. Bushi conveniently chooses to ignore the fiduciary duties which Bushi owed to Sage and the other members. Bushi also chose to ignore the fiduciary duties which other Sage members owe to one another and to the Company. This leads to some very interesting questions. When the other Sage members voted, was their only obligation to preserve the economic interests of Bushi? We suggest not. Rather, their true fiduciary duties lay in preserving interests of the

Company and each of them was obligated to preserve the interests of the other two members. In fact, a failure to remove Bushi, given his established and undisputed course of conduct, would have been a breach of fiduciary duty by each member of Sage of the fiduciary duty owed to the other members (other than Bushi) and to the Company itself. How could one possibly justify keeping as a member a person who had converted Company funds to his own use, apparently acted to conceal that conversion, and failed to reimburse the funds when notified? If no action had been taken, then perhaps Kent could have sued Novak, Novak could have sued Kent, both of them could have sued Negron and vice versa. These would have been much better causes of action than the one that Bushi now brings.

c. Under Idaho Case Law Sage's Actions in Compliance with the Express Terms of the Operating Agreement Are NOT a Breach of Fiduciary Duty.

Existing Idaho case law follows this rule - Bushi has failed to mention the one Idaho decision which is clearly on point, *Tolley v. THI Co.*, 140 Idaho 253, 92 P.3d 513 (2004). That case holds squarely against Bushi. Tolley was a shareholder in the defendant family corporation as a result of shares transferred to her in a divorce. The stock was subject to a stock purchase and redemption agreement executed by Tolley's former spouse. At the time he signed the agreement, Tolley signed a spousal's consent to be bound by the terms of the agreement. The divorce settlement agreement between Tolley and her spouse clearly contemplated that she would be paid for the stock by the corporation. However, the stockholder agreement gave the corporation the right, but not the obligation, to purchase the stock. The corporation refused to purchase the stock.

corporation. The court held that even though *Tolley* was a shareholder, and the corporation's refusal resulted in frustration of her reasonable economic expectation, since the corporation was acting in accordance with the terms of the shareholders' agreement, there was no breach of fiduciary duty. 140 Idaho at 261.

Our case presents the other side of the same coin which the court examined in *Tolley*. In *Tolley*, the corporation relied on the provision of the shareholder's agreement and refused to purchase the stock. In our case, the company (Sage) is exercising its right under the agreement to buy Bushi's interest. In both instances, we are dealing with the contractual rights of the company/corporation to buy or not to buy the interests of a minority owner. Sage respectfully submits that the holding in *Tolley* governs in this case.

d. Other Jurisdictions Concur, No Breach of Fiduciary Duty Occurs Where the Action Taken is Permitted Under the Agreement.

In *Bishop of Victoria Corp. Sole v. Corporate Business Park, LLC,* 138 Wash.

App. 443, 158, P.3d 1183 (App. Div. 2, 2007), the Court held that *Bishop of Victoria* had not breached his fiduciary duty because it had acted in compliance with the express terms of the Operating Agreement. The company was owned by Joseph Finley and the Bishop of Victor Corp. Sole (BV). Finley had approached BV with an idea for an investment opportunity proposing that he and BV purchase a parcel of land in Lacey, Washington, with the intention of reselling it at a substantial profit. Finley agreed to contribute his labor and expertise and BV agreed to contribute financially. There was no evidence presented that either party's obligation to contribute was quantified. 158 P.3d 1186. After the passage of several years, the property had not been sold. Each party suspected the others motives. BV took the perspective that Finley had no personal

interest in selling the property unless he could sell it for a premium price that might never be available. Finley accused BV of wanting to sell the property for pennies on the dollar so it could withdraw for what it considered to be a bad investment. Id. at p. 1187. At that point in time, the company's property was already substantially mortgaged and the company had no additional funds. BV refused to make any further mortgage payments and the mortgage on the property was foreclosed. BV subsequently found a buyer for the property in an amount sufficient to pay off the mortgage debts owed by the company. Finley claimed that BV had breached its fiduciary duty when it refused to continue making the mortgage payments on the property and when it had located a purchaser for the property in an amount sufficient to pay off the mortgage debt. Finley's expectation of future profit on resale of the property was thwarted. However, the court held that, as a matter of law, BV had not breached any fiduciary duties owed to Finley because BV had always acted in compliance with the terms and conditions of the agreements between the parties. Thus, a frustrated expectation of future profit is not a strong enough hook to support a claim of breach of fiduciary duty where the party charged has acted in accordance with the requirements of the agreements between the parties. Id. at 1192.

In *McConnell v. Hunt Sports Enterprises*, 132 Ohio App.3d 657, 725 N.E.2d 1193, Ohio App. 10 Dist. (1999), the court held that there had been no breach of fiduciary duty because the Operating Agreement permitted the action taken. Under the Operating Agreement, the members were not prohibited from engaging in a venture that was competitive with the company's investing in an operating agreement in a national hockey league franchise. Thus, there was no violation of fiduciary duty. 725 N.E.2d at 1206, 1207. Likewise, in *Ledford v. Smith*, 274 Ga. App. 714, 618 S.E.2d 627 (Ga. App.

2005), the Court held that the defendant had not breached his fiduciary duty because the actions he had taken were permitted under the operating agreement. 618 S.E.2d at 636. In so holding, the court noted, any fiduciary duties that a member of a limited liability company has may be modified or eliminated (with a few exceptions) by the operating agreement. The exceptions were stated in the Georgia, LLC, statutes. *Id.* These three cases all deal with a conflict of interest, a seizure by a member of an economic opportunity which might otherwise have belonged to the company. Absent an operating agreement, there are many decisions which would characterize these types of conduct as breaches of fiduciary duty, but if done in accordance with the provisions of an operating agreement, they are not.

Ironically, Bushi is guilty of conduct in this same category – he acknowledges that he went to work with a psychiatric group that competes with Sage for hospital contracts. However, he claims the shelter of the Operating Agreement. In other words, he gets the shelter of the Agreement, but the defendants do not. What is sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander.

e. The Unreported Decisions Cited by Bushi are Not Proper Precedent and are Distinguishable on Their Facts.

At Page 21 of Appellant's Brief, he claims, incorrectly, that other jurisdictions have found a breach of fiduciary duty under "similar circumstances". As authority, he relies on two <u>unreported decisions</u> which are not a proper citation of authority for a brief before the Idaho Supreme Court. *See* I. S.Ct. Op.R. 15(f).

The first unreported case which Bushi relies on was *Anderson v. Wilder*, 2003 Westlaw 22768666 (Tenn. Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2003). This case illustrates the peril of

reliance upon unreported decisions. It holds contrary to reported Tennessee case precedent. The reported decision of *McGee v. Best*, 106 S.W.3d 48 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2002) held, based on the plain language of the Tennessee LLC statute, that a member of a Tennessee LLC owed a fiduciary duty only to the company, not to the other members. *Id. at pp. 63, 64*. Secondly, *Anderson* is easily distinguished from the case at hand on its facts. In *Anderson* there was no indication of wrongful conduct by the member who was removed. Further, in *Anderson*, the other members turned around and sold the removed members' interest for a tidy profit one month later – clear evidence of a wrongful motive. In our case there is no evidence of a wrongful motive by the defendant members, merely Bushi's speculation and conjecture about their motive, none of which is admissible evidence.

Bushi's second unreported case, *Zulawski v. Taylor*, 2005 Westlaw 3823584 (N.Y. Supp.) is also easily distinguished on its facts. In that case, there was no indication of wrongful conduct by *Zulawski*. The stated facts indicated *Zulawski* was the owner of an interior decorating business which was stolen from him by an investor who made him sign documents under duress. These facts are easily distinguished from the case at hand. Under New York law, the question of whether a fiduciary relationship exists between parties is necessarily fact specific to a particular case. *Weiner v. Lazard Everest Co.*, 241 A.D.2d 114, 122 (1st App. Dept. 1998).

B. Bushi has not Raised a Material Issue of Fact as to Whether Sage's Other Members Breached Their Fiduciary Duties.

In this section of Bushi's brief, he raises a debate about the reasons motivating the other members when they terminated his membership. But the District Court said:

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